FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/27/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/27/2024 4:01 PM

Supreme Court No. Case #: 1029055 Court of Appeals No. 85031-8-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING, a Washington municipal corporation, Respondent,

v.

ANDRE KNIGHT, *Petitioner*,

and

ANGELA KNIGHT, DELANEY KNIGHT, and all occupants, *Defendants*.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edmund Witter, WSBA No. 52339 Yuan Ting, WSBA No. 52897 Christina Jaccard, WSBA No. 55592 Ashleen O'Brien, WSBA No. 58429

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Andre Knight requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Section B of this petition. Mr. Knight is the former tenant of Respondent King County Housing Authority ("the Landlord") and was a defendant in the trial court action below.

B. DECISION BELOW

Mr. Knight seeks review of the published Court of Appeals Division I decision in *Hous. Auth. of Cnty. of King v. Knight*, 543 P.3d 891 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024) ("the Opinion"). The Opinion was filed on February 26, 2024. A copy is in the Appendix at A1 through A27. The Court of Appeals concluded that the CARES Act's requirement that landlords of certain federally subsidized properties provide tenants with at least 30 days' notice to vacate prior to commencing eviction proceedings, 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c), applies *only* when the basis for the eviction is nonpayment of rent. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals'

decision directly conflicts with Division II's recent interpretation of the same federal statute in *Pendleton Place, LLC v. Asentista*, 541 P.3d 397 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024) and threatens to curtail a vital eviction protection Congress made available to the many tenants who benefit from federally subsidized housing programs or live in dwellings with federally backed mortgages.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the CARES Act's 30-day notice requirement applies to all notices to vacate, regardless of the basis for the eviction? (Yes.)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this unlawful detainer action, the Landlord sought to evict Mr. Knight, his mother, and his sister from the federally subsidized Kent apartment unit where they resided for about four years. CP 1-3; Opinion at 2 ("The Housing Authority did not dispute that the Knights' rental unit was a dwelling covered by the CARES Act."); A-29. On January 25, 2023, the Landlord served the family with a "Three-Day Notice of Proposed

Eviction" alleging that they had maintained a nuisance by engaging in or allowing criminal activity at the property. CP 79-80, CP 5-9. The notice required that the family vacate their home by January 28, 2023. CP 5.

Mr. Knight's family vacated the premises after receiving the three-day notice. A29. No later than the Spring of 2023, they moved their belongings into a storage unit, informed the Landlord they were leaving, returned their unit keys to the building's office, and left the unit. *Id.* Mr. Knight never received the summons, nor any subsequent pleadings or notices related to trial or appellate proceedings. A29-A30.

Although no defendant filed a notice of appearance or answer to the complaint, the Landlord did not pursue a default judgment under CR 55 and instead chose to set a show cause hearing on February 15, 2023. *See* CP 176-178. No defendant appeared at the show cause hearing to defend against the issuance of a writ of restitution. CP 191-192. The commissioner determined that the property was a covered dwelling as defined

by 15 U.S.C. § 9058(a)(1), but the Landlord had not provided the tenants with a 30-day notice to vacate as required by 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1). CP 193-195. The commissioner thus concluded that he was without authority to grant the Landlord's relief and instead dismissed the case without prejudice. *Id*.

The Landlord opted not to exercise its right to revision of the commissioner's order by a judge, and instead proceeded directly to appeal. See Notice of Appeal. The Court of Appeals granted the Landlord's motion to accelerate review of the appeal based on indications that the tenants were moving out in February and the likelihood of the case becoming moot. See App.'s Motion for Accelerated Review; Ruling by Commissioner Masako Kanazawa.

On appeal, the Landlord contended that the trial court erred in concluding that 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1) applied to notices other than for nonpayment of rent. Opinion at 4. Although 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) prohibits a landlord from requiring a tenant to "vacate the covered dwelling unit before the date that is 30 days

after the date on which the lessor provides the tenant with a notice to vacate" and includes no language limiting the requirement to nonpayment of rent cases, the Landlord argued that Congress intended the limitation it expressly applied to the temporary 120-day moratorium on eviction filings in in 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b) to also apply to the permanent notice requirement it created in 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c). *See* Br. of App. at 19-20.

Having vacated the property, Mr. Knight was unaware of the appeal and neither he nor his family members appeared to defend against it. See A29-A30. The King County Bar Association Housing Justice Project (HJP) filed an amicus brief in support of the tenants, arguing that the Landlord's interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) would require the court to add words into the statute that Congress had purposefully chosen not to include. See generally Br. of King County Bar Association. HJP's brief pointed out that if Congress had intended to limit the 30-day notice requirement in 15 U.S.C. §

9058(c) to notices for nonpayment of rent, it would have explicitly done so just as it did for the temporary moratorium on eviction filings in 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b). *Id*.

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals agreed with the Landlord and held that "Congress, by implication, intended that the nonpayment of rent basis provided in subsection (b) apply to both paragraph (c)(1) and paragraph (c)(2)." Opinion at 8. Mr. Knight subsequently learned of the appeal and retained HJP to represent him in seeking this Court's discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision. *See* A29-A-30.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court has not addressed whether the CARES Act's 30-day notice requirement is limited to notices for nonpayment of rent. It is a matter of first impression. Discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Opinion directly conflicts with Division II's published opinion in *Asentista*, and the Supreme Court's guidance is necessary to resolve the

question of whether a trial court must dismiss an unlawful detainer action against a tenant residing in a covered dwelling where the landlord fails to serve a 30-day eviction notice. Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as matter of substantial public importance because the Opinion's holding severely limits a federally guaranteed eviction protection available to many Washington families by permitting landlords to provide tenants with less time to vacate the premises before eviction proceedings can be commenced.

1. The Court of Appeals' narrowing of the CARES Act's 30-day notice requirement to notices for nonpayment of rent upends Division II's holding in Asentista (RAP 13.4(b)(2)).

Just months prior to the Court of Appeals decision in the instant case, Division II was confronted with the exact same question of statutory interpretation and reached the exact opposite result. *See Asentista*, 541 P.3d at 402 ("15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) applies to situations beyond nonpayment of rent."). In

Asentista, the landlord served several 10-day notices to comply with the rental agreement or vacate pursuant to RCW 59.18.650(2)(b) on a tenant living in a federally subsidized building that provides rental housing to individuals who have experienced chronic homelessness. *Id.* at 398. On appeal, the tenant argued that the ten-day notice was insufficient to permit the landlord to maintain an unlawful detainer action where 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) unambiguously required he receive a 30-day notice. Id. at 400. Like in the instant case, the landlord in Asentista asserted that the 30-day notice requirement did not apply because the eviction was not based on nonpayment of rent. Id. at 399. Unlike in the instant case, however, the Division II panel disagreed with the landlord's interpretation. Id. The reasoning in *Asentista* is more persuasive than that of the Court of Appeals opinion below.

In interpreting the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c), Division II relied on the principle that courts "cannot use statutory interpretation to add language that the legislature did

not use" and do not "rewrite plain statutory language under the guise of statutory construction." Id. at 401 (first citing Miller v. Dep't of Revenue, 27 Wn. App. 2d 415, 423, 532 P.3d 187 (2023); then quoting McColl v. Anderson, 6 Wn. App. 2d 88, 91, 429 P.3d 1113 (2018)). Applying this principle, it rejected the landlord's arguments that 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) is limited by the temporary eviction moratorium provision in subsection 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b), which expressly applies only to filings for nonpayment of rent. Id. The court found this argument inconsistent with the plain language of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1), which unlike 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b), contains no limitation to nonpayment of rent. Id. Ultimately, because the landlord's argument "would require [the court] to add the limiting language of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b) to 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1)" and "add language that Congress did not include," Division II held that the 30-day notice provision in subsection (c)(1) applies to all evictions of tenants living in covered dwelling units. *Id.* at 402.

The Opinion expressly disaffirms the reasoning in Asentista and sets aside the basic principles of statutory construction that guided the Asentista court's holding. See Opinion at 1. The Court of Appeals reasoned that because 1) both subsection (b) and (c) of 15 U.S.C. § 9058 reference the definition of "covered dwelling" laid out in subsection (a), and 2) subsection (c)(2) references the expiration of the moratorium period defined by subsection (b), it therefore follows that Congress "by implication" intended that subsection (c)'s 30-day notice requirement contain an unstated limitation to cases involving nonpayment of rent. Id. at 8-9. This logic is hard to track, and the Opinion does not cite any principles of statutory construction that support the proposition that just because two statutory provisions reference one another and reference a common definition, it follows that the legislature intended one provision would impliedly adopt the language of the other provision. To the contrary, when the legislature includes language in one section of a statute but not in another, courts

must presume the choice was intentional. See City of Seattle v. Long, 198 Wn.2d 136, 149-50, 493 P.3d 94 (2021) ("If lawmakers intended for the final clause to refer to occupied property, they could have included the term as they did in the first clause; they did not. . . . When the legislature uses two different terms in the same statute, we presume the legislature intends the terms to have different meanings."); Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 162 Wn.2d 210, 173 P.3d 885, 890 (2007) ("In RCW 41.40.170, the legislature used different terms in subsections (1) and (3) to describe the service which may be credited: "active federal service in the military or naval forces" and "service in the armed forces." One clearly appears broader than the other. Applying the aforementioned rule of statutory interpretation, we will presume that the legislature intended these two phrases to have different meanings."). The Court of Appeals, in contrast with Division II's decision in *Asentista*, improperly narrowed the broad, permanent 30-day notice requirement in subsection (c) to apply only to notices for nonpayment of rent merely because the

limited, temporary filing moratorium contemplated in subsection (b) contained such a limitation.

Given the conflict between the published Division I and Division II opinions, Washington trial courts are now in the difficult position of lacking clear guidance on whether an eviction for a cause other than nonpayment of rent can proceed where the tenant resides in a covered property and has received less than 30 days' notice to vacate. Supreme Court guidance is necessary to prevent unequal application of federal eviction protections across the state.

2. The Court of Appeals decision to curtail a vital protection against eviction for tenants in federally subsidized properties is against the public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

The CARES Act's 30-day notice requirement provides tenants who reside in federally subsidized properties with substantially more time to vacate their homes before they risk an eviction filing against them than they would otherwise be entitled to under state law. This enormously benefits the many

Washington tenants living in covered dwellings by affording them more opportunity to consult legal counsel about their options, seek alternative housing, and relocate to avoid risking the irrevocable harm of having an eviction filing on their tenant record. The Court of Appeals' decision to add words to 15 U.S.C. § 9058 restricting the 30-day notice requirement to only a subset of evictions would deprive tenants of this federally intended protection.

By design, Washington's eviction process is expedited to the benefit of landlords and the detriment of tenants. *FPA Crescent Assocs.*, *LLC v. Jamie's*, *LLC*, 190 Wn. App. 666, 674, 360 P.3d 934 (2015) ("The statutory action relieves a landlord of having to file an expensive and lengthy common law action of ejectment."). After filing an unlawful detainer action, the landlord may schedule a hearing on its motion to be restored to possession of the property with just seven days' notice to the tenant. RCW 59.18.370. Given the speed with which a landlord can obtain a court order to evict a tenant, state law entitles tenants

to a pre-suit eviction notice that must expire before the landlord may commence court proceedings. See RCW 59.12.030 (setting forth the bases for liability for unlawful detainer, which involve holding over after the expiration of the period in a notice); RCW 59.18.650(2) (requiring that a landlord also have one of the enumerated just cause grounds for eviction, each of which involves the tenant having held over after the expiration of the time period identified in a notice). When a landlord alleges that a tenant has defaulted on rent, the pre-suit notice must allow the tenant at least 14 days to pay the rent or vacate the premises. RCW 59.18.650(2)(a). However, when an eviction is based on a behavioral allegation against the tenant, as in the instant case, state law requires less notice. See e.g. RCW 59.18.650(2)(c) (preventing the landlord from evicting a tenant for waste, nuisance, or unlawful activity until after the expiration of a 3-day notice to quit); RCW 59.18.650(2)(b) (preventing the landlord from evicting a tenant until after the expiration of a 10-day notice to comply with the rental agreement or vacate the premises).

In extending the pre-suit notice period to 30 days for tenants living in federally subsidized properties, Congress was not merely creating needless delay. It was meaningfully increasing tenants' opportunities to make informed decisions about whether to vacate the premises and arrange for other temporary or permanent housing or, in the alternative, prepare for legal proceedings or settlement negotiations. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) would limit the number of cases to which this vital protection applies.

Washington courts' interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c) widely impacts Washingtonians. Renters comprise over one third of Washington households. *See* United States Census Bureau, Washington QuickFacts from the U.S. Census Bureau, *available at* https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/WA. While there is no precise data on how many Washington tenants' homes are subject to the CARES Act's eviction protections, the Congressional Research Service estimated that roughly 19.3 million households nationwide, close to half of the rental market,

are covered dwellings under the Act. Maggie McCarty and David H. Carpenter, Congressional Research Service, "CARES Act Eviction Moratorium" (April 7, 2020). Covered dwellings include those with tenants that benefit from federal assistance programs and housing grants including public housing, Section 8 vouchers, and the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit program. 15 U.S.C. § 9058(a)(2). These programs serve some of the most vulnerable tenants who cannot afford market-rate rental housing and are likely to be especially harmed by a curtailed pre-suit notice period and reduction in eviction preventions.

Further, Supreme Court review would provide muchneeded clarity to both landlords and tenants about their
obligations and rights under federal law. Absent Supreme Court
guidance, public housing providers and landlords of other
federally subsidized properties seeking to evict tenants based on
behavioral allegations will not be able to predict whether serving
a less-than 30-day notice to vacate will be fatal to an unlawful
detainer action. Similarly, tenants of CARES Act covered

properties who receive less than 30 days' notice to vacate will have no way to know whether the notice was proper such that remaining in possession after its expiration will trigger the status of unlawful detainer. *See Sherwood Auburn LLC v. Pinzon*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 664, 674, 521 P.3d 212 (2022), *review denied*, 526 P.3d 848 (Wash. 2023) ("[O]nly after the proper notice is provided and the cure period has expired can the tenant be said to be unlawfully detaining the premises."). This Court's resolution of Washington appellate courts' conflicting interpretations of the CARES Act would benefit the public by increasing the predictability, fairness, and efficiency of unlawful detainer proceedings.

3. This Court should grant review even though this case is moot because it presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest.

A case is moot if an appellate court can no longer provide effective relief, as when "changes in the circumstances that prevailed at the beginning of litigation have forestalled any occasion for meaningful relief." Clark Cnty. v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 10 Wn. App. 2d 84, 104, 448 P.3d 81 (2019). Although an appellate court will generally not review a moot decision, the court may discretionarily decide the appeal on its merits if it presents a question of continuing and substantial public interest. Randy Reynolds & Associates, Inc. v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 152, 437 P.3d 677 (2019).

Three nonexclusive factors are central to a court's determination of whether the public interest exception to mootness applies: 1) whether the issue is public or private in nature, 2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to guide public officers, and 3) whether the issue will likely recur. *Id.* Courts may also consider the level of adversity between the parties. *Id.* at 153. When the interpretation of a statute or executive order that governs unlawful detainer procedure is at issue, all factors typically weigh in favor of review. *See id.* (opting to decide moot unlawful detainer case on its merits because 1) the RLTA's application to tenants contesting default

judgments is a matter of statutory interpretation, which is generally public in nature and likely to rearise, 2) the Court's determination of a potential limitation on a court's power to stay writs of restitution without bond would guide future trial and appellate courts, 3) unlawful detainer actions are "routine occurrences and so similar questions are likely to recur," and 4) the level of adversity between the parties favored the landlord who prevailed below); Dzaman v. Gowman, 18 Wn. App. 2d 469, 477, 491 P.3d 1012 (2021) (finding that the unlawful detainer matter, even if moot, warranted review because 1) the interpretation and application of the governor's eviction moratorium impacted landlords and tenants throughout the state, 2) authoritative guidance would "provide clear guidance to both landlords and superior court judges... throughout the course of the pandemic," and 3) the issue would likely recur).

This matter was moot on appeal below. Unlawful detainers are narrow actions where the trial court is limited to resolving the right of possession between the landlord and tenant. *Munden v*.

Hazelrigg, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985). If a tenant moves out of the subject premises pending trial, the landlord cannot continue with summary unlawful detainer proceedings and any claims incidental to the right to possession (i.e., unpaid rent) can be resolved instead through an ordinary civil action. Id.; Kessler v. Nielsen, 3 Wn. App. 120, 123–24, 472 P.2d 616 (1970). Here, because the Landlord regained possession of the property close to a year before the Court of Appeals decision was filed, it had already obtained the ultimate relief available within the action. See A29.

Even though the case is moot, the interpretation and application of the CARES Act's notice provision is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest. As in *Gowman* and *Harmon*, all factors weigh in favor of granting review. First, this case does not merely resolve a private dispute. Rather, it involves a question of statutory interpretation that broadly impacts landlords, tenants, and judicial officers participating in unlawful detainer proceedings. *See infra*, at E.2. Second, authoritative

guidance from the Supreme Court is necessary so that landlords and tenants are aware of their rights and obligations under the CARES Act, and so that trial courts know how to proceed when an eviction action revolves around behavioral allegations against a tenant residing in a covered property. See infra, at E.2. Third, this situation is likely to recur, as unlawful detainer actions are increasingly common, and close to fifty percent of the rental market lives in covered properties. See Heidi Groover, WA Approves More Funds for Tenant Attorneys as Evictions Remain High, SEATTLE TIMES (March 11, 2024), https://www.seattletimes.com/business/real-estate/wa-approvesmore-funds-for-tenant-attorneys-as-evictions-remain-high/; Maggie McCarty and David H. Carpenter, Congressional Research Service, "CARES Act Eviction Moratorium" (April 7, 2020). And fourth, as in *Harmon*, the Landlord has the upper hand in this case, having prevailed in a moot, unopposed appeal against its former tenants who had already vacated and had no actual notice of the lawsuit or appeal. Given that these factors all

weigh in favor of deciding this case on its merits, mootness should not prevent this Court from granting review.

F. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(4).

This document contains 3564 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.