FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/26/2024 12:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1029055 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 85031-8-I

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

ANDRE KNIGHT,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrew R. Chisholm WA State Bar No. 30673 Christopher M. Reed WA State Bar No. 49716 Attorneys for Respondent

MONTGOMERY PURDUE PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue Suite 5500 Seattle, WA 98104-7096 (206) 682-7090

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Split of Division Authority Rests on a Faulty Interpretation of Prior Division I Precedent

Mr. Knight argues review is proper because the decision in this case conflicts with Division II's decision in *Pendleton Place, LLC v. Asentista*, --- Wn. App. 2d ---, 541 P.3d 397 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024). RAP 13.4(b)(2). Respectfully, Division II's ruling relies upon a misinterpretation of authority which has since been clarified by Division I's ruling in this case, meaning no further review is necessary.

In *Asentista*, the landlord served a 10-day notice to comply or vacate pursuant to RCW 59.18.650(2)(b). Like here, the tenant lived in federally subsidized housing, making the property subject to the provisions of the CARES Act. On appeal, the

-

⁵ The HJP submitted an amicus brief in the appeal below. Division I noted that, as an amicus party, the HJP lacked standing to pursue a petition for review. *Knight*, 543 P.3d at 903, fn. 16.

tenant argued the landlord was required to serve a 30-day notice to comply or vacate, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1). Division II of the Court of Appeals agreed.

In reaching this conclusion, Division II relied heavily upon a misinterpretation of Division I's decision in *Sherwood Auburn v. Pinzon*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 664, 521 P.3d 212 (2022), *review denied* 1 Wn.3d 1005, 526 P.3d 848 (2023). In fact, Division II indicated Division I "agreed" the notice requirement in the CARES Act applied to all eviction notices, and not just notices for the failure to pay rent. *See Asentista*, 541 P.3d at 401 ("The plain language of this statute requires a landlord to provide the tenant with a 30-day notice to vacate before requiring the tenant to vacate the premises. Division One of this court agreed.").

Division II was mistaken. In fact, Judge Dwyer—author of Division I's decision in *Pinzon* and the opinion in this matter—noted during oral argument below:

I'll be frank, when I authored *Pinzon*, the idea that it could benefit people engaging in criminal

behaviors was not presented, discussed, or really contemplated. (Underline added).

In its decision in this matter, Division I confirmed its decision in *Pinzon* "did not resolve the matter presented herein" and that, as a result, "such reliance was misplaced." *Knight*, 543 P.3d at 893. Thus, the 'division split' alleged is one which rests upon a misinterpretation of prior precedent from Division I itself. The 'division split' is likely to be resolved now that Division I has clarified its holding in *Pinzon* by confirming that 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)'s 30-day notice requirement applies *only* to notices for the nonpayment of rent.

Even if this was not the case, it is difficult to imagine the reasoning of the Court's holding in *Asentista* is "more persuasive than that of the Court of Appeals opinion below," as argued by Mr. Knight. Petition, p. 4. In fact, the *Asentista* decision is the only decision identified by either party or the Court holding the 30-day notice requirement in the CARES Act broadly applies beyond its plain language to *all* eviction notices (including notices for dangerous criminal activity). *Knight*, 543 P.3d at 899

(collecting cases and noting KCHA "asserts that decisional authority from jurisdictions outside of Washington that have addressed this issue have uniformly adopted the interpretation herein. [KCHA] is correct."). Thus, decisional authority on this issue already exists and is in line with Division I's holding in the instant case.

Division II's ruling in *Asentista* rests upon a misinterpretation of prior Division I authority (and is an outlier ruling). Thus, the Court need not accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

B. Mr. Knight's Public Interest Argument Focuses on the *Wrong* Public Interest and is Not Supported by RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Mr. Knight argues Division I's ruling in this case "curtails" a vital protection for tenants in federally subsidized properties and is thus against the public interest. Petition, p. 12. Mr. Knight is mistaken.

As an initial matter, no vital protections are being 'curtailed.' This is because the express language of

15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1) (which establishes the 30-day notice requirement) makes clear the notice requirement does not apply to evictions other than those for the nonpayment of rent. More specifically, the CARES Act established a 120-day moratorium on filing or initiating "a legal action to recover possession of the covered dwelling from the tenant for nonpayment of rent or other fees or charges." 15 U.S.C. § 9058(b)(1) (emphasis added). After the expiration of the moratorium, 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1) established a 30-day notice requirement, stating a landlord: "may not require the tenant to vacate the covered dwelling unit before the date that is 30 days after the date on which the lessor provides the tenant with a notice to vacate." 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(1). That the 30-day notice requirement is directly linked to the moratorium on nonpayment of rent evictions is made express by 15 U.S.C. § 9058(c)(2), which provides that a 30-day notice to vacate cannot be issued until after the expiration of the moratorium on nonpayment of rent evictions described in subsection (b). *Id*. Subsections (c)(1) and (c)(2) are linked by the word "and," thus must be read together. State v. Yusuf, 21 Wn. App. 2d 960, 969, 512 P.3d 915, 921–22, review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1011, 518 P.3d 206 (2022) (explaining that Washington courts presume "the legislature uses 'and' as a conjunction," not disjunctively). Subsections (b) and (c) of 15 U.S.C. § 9058 are likewise linked by direct reference. As a result, it is clear—based on the plain and unambiguous language in the statute—that the 30-day notice to vacate requirement applies only to evictions based on the non-payment of rent. Nothing is being 'curtailed.' The protection argued by Mr. Knight does not exist. Indeed, Mr. Knight is arguing for a broad interpretation of Section 9058, which impermissibly renders language superfluous. *Knight*, 543 P.3d at 898.

Even if this was not the case, Mr. Knight is focusing on the *wrong* public interest. More specifically, Mr. Knight is attempting to put the interests of *the individual* above the interests of *all other tenants and the public*. In this case, Mr. Knight is alleged to have engaged in multiple shootouts at the property, engaged in drug dealing, and participated in the theft of vehicles.⁶ Mr. Knight's alleged criminal activity was so dangerous that children, other residents, and KCHA staff were forced to take cover during shootouts at the property to avoid gunfire. CP 5-8.

It is clear Mr. Knight and the HJP are entirely disregarding the fact that the protection being requested—an extraordinary notice period for individuals engaging in criminal activity—is in fact *against* public policy and instead benefits *only* the individual engaging in criminal activity. This issue was squarely addressed by Judge Dwyer during oral argument in this matter, where Judge Dwyer asked:

Is it reasonable to assume, that Congress would only be considering the welfare of the individual litigant? In other words . . . was Congress's intent [] to condemn the people living [at the property] to an extra-usual period of time, in which they are in the enforced company of criminals because they don't

⁶ It is notable that Mr. Knight is currently facing criminal charges in multiple matters for these alleged crimes. *See* King County Superior Court Cause Nos. 22-1-04743-3 KNT, 23-1-03632-4 KNT, 23-1-07687-3 KNT, and 23-1-07691-1 KNT.

,

have the resources to move away and Congress is denying the landlords the ability to keep them safe? Because that's the other side to this coin. That's tails. **Is it endangers people who can't afford to go elsewhere**. (Emphasis added).

The public interest is *not* served by forcing landlords to issue a notice providing individuals engaging in dangerous criminal activity an "extra-usual" period of time to vacate. Other residents, the public, and the landlord's staff should not be forced to live next to potentially life-threatening criminal activity for any amount of time, let alone 30-days as argued by Mr. Knight and the HJP.⁷ Any argument to the contrary places other residents and the community at risk and is *against* public policy. As such, review is not necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

-

⁷ The amicus party below (the HJP) argued it would be within the purview of law enforcement to address situations in which criminal activity was occurring at a property. The HJP ignored the fact that, in this case, Mr. Knight evaded law enforcement for months. The HJP also failed to explain why the landlord should be restricted from taking action to address serious criminal activity simultaneously with law enforcement response.

C. The Appeal is Moot because Mr. Knight Confirms Neither he nor his Family have any Interest in the Property

It is also notable that this case is moot. "It is a general rule that, where only moot questions or abstract propositions are involved, or where the substantial questions involved in the trial court no longer exist, the appeal . . . should be dismissed. Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994). "A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief." Id. (citing Orwick v. City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)).

Here, it is not subject to dispute the case is moot. Although KCHA adamantly disputes Mr. Knight's representations that the family informed KCHA the family was leaving and returned their keys to the building's office, Mr. Knight has now testified under the penalty of perjury that he and his family fully vacated the Property at issue in the spring of 2023.⁸ Petition, p. 7. The

⁸ KCHA notes that, even assuming Mr. Knight's representations are accurate, Mr. Knight claims to have vacated the Property well after KCHA filed an appeal in this matter on February 24, 2023.

Court thus cannot afford effective relief (i.e., resolve the issue of possession), as all parties now agree the Knight family has no interest in the Property. *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985). The Court need not accept review because the case is moot.

Mr. Knight argues this Court should nevertheless accept review—despite the fact that the case is moot—because the case presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest. Petition, pp. 17-21.

In evaluating whether the Court should make an exception to the general rule that a moot appeal should be dismissed, "three factors in particular are determinative:

(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature;

(2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur. A fourth factor may also play a role: the level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues. Lastly, the court may consider the "likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short-lived". *Seattle v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 232, 250, 668 P.2d 1266 (1983) (Rosellini, J., dissenting).

Westerman, 125 Wn.2d at 286.

Here, several factors considered are not met. For example, although the issue is of a public nature, an authoritative determination is not necessary. As set forth above, with the exception of Division II in *Asentista*, all courts analyzing this issue have concluded that the 30-day CARES Act notice requirement applies only to evictions based on the nonpayment of rent. Division II's ruling is an outlier ruling and one which rested upon a misapplication of prior Division I authority, which Division I has since clarified.

With respect to the genuine adverseness and quality of advocacy, Mr. Knight claims he "was unaware of the appeal" and did not appear or defend against it. Petition, p. 5. Mr. Knight now admits he no longer occupies the Property (Petition, p. 3) and thus, has no interest in prevailing on appeal. Instead, the interest pursued appears to be that of the Housing Justice Project (the HJP), which desires to expand application of the CARES Act beyond its plain language to provide protections to

individuals engaging in criminal activity, at the expense of other residents and the public. The HJP's policy desire to expand the scope of the CARES Act to provide protections for individuals engaging in dangerous criminal activity does not support genuine adverseness between the actual parties to this matter.

Finally, the issue presented in this matter is unlikely to escape future review. Indeed, this issue has already been appealed twice in the last two years. *Cf. Westerman*, 125 Wn.2d at 287 (noting issue presented was "one which will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short-lived.").

The Court need not accept review because this case is moot and several of the factors for accepting a moot appeal support denying Mr. Knight's petition for review.

V. CONCLUSION

The plain language of 15 U.S.C. § 9058 makes clear the 30-day notice requirement applies only to evictions based upon the nonpayment of rent. The only decision holding to the contrary (*Asentista*) is an outlier ruling which relied upon a

misapplication of prior Division I authority, since clarified by Division I itself. Thus, the split of authority amongst the Courts of Appeals is likely to be corrected at the Court of Appeals level. Moreover, the public interest is not served by the position advocated by Mr. Knight. To the contrary, "extra-usual" notice protections for individual litigants engaging in criminal activity places the safety of other residents and the public *at risk*, to their detriment. Finally, this case is moot, with Mr. Knight testifying that the Knight family has in fact vacated the Property.

For these reasons, the Court need not accept review in this matter.